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Bef ore DeMOSS and DENNI'S, Circuit Judges, and LEE," District Judge.
DeMoss, Circuit Judge:

Appellants Dr. Loring Gfford! and his enployee Sanarjeet
Si dhu were each convicted of conspiracy to commit mail fraud and
other crimnal conduct relating to their practice of submtting

false clains for nedical services to various private insurers and

Chi ef Judge of the Southern District of M ssissippi,
sitting by designation.

. Dr. Gffordis variously referredto in the record as Dr.
Loren Gfford or Dr. Loring Gfford. This opinion will use Dr.
Gfford s nane as specified in his appellate brief.



governnent prograns. Sidhu appeals both his convictions and his
sentence. G fford appeals only the district court’s determ nation
of his sentence. W affirm
BACKGROUND

Appellant Loring Gfford is a psychiatrist. Prior to his
convictioninthis case, Gfford operated a profitable practice in
El Paso, Texas. G fford advertised as a specialist in the area of
addi cti on and pai n managenent, and frequently prescribed norphi ne.
I ndeed, G fford prescribed a significant portion of the norphine
prescribed in the State of Texas. Mny of Gfford' s patients cane
indaily to receive injections of norphine, alone or in conbination
wth other pain-killing injections. Sonme of Gfford s patients
becane addicted to norphine as a result of his treatnents, and
required further treatnment to withdrawfromthe nedications Gfford
provi ded.

G fford systematical | y defrauded governnent prograns, such as
Medi car e, Medi cai d, and CHAMPUS, and private insurers.
Specifically, governnent progranms and private insurers were billed
for services that were either (1) not performed, (2) not perforned
as billed, or (3) perfornmed by non-physicians, for whose services
Gfford was not entitled to be reinbursed. I n but one exanple,
Gfford routinely billed sixty-mnute psychotherapy sessions to
patients who cane to the office for injections. Gfford billed
these sessions using a code that contenplates face-to-face
psychot herapy. Nonethel ess, patients were billed without regardto

whet her the patient was seen by Dr. G fford. In several cases,



patients were billed for psychot herapy sessi ons notw t hstandi ng t he
fact that Gfford was out of town, or even out of the country.
Eventual ly, patients were billed wthout regard to whether the
patients cane to the office. In one case, Gfford billed
psychot herapy to a patient who was no | onger |iving.

Gfford also billed far nore psychotherapy than could have
reasonably been perfornmed. For exanple, Gfford personally billed
nmore than 5,800 hours as patient visits for the year 1993. Gfford
routinely billed between forty and si xty psychot herapy appoi nt nents
in a single day, all supposedly lasting between thirty and sixty
m nutes per session. G fford does not dispute that he engaged in
these fraudulent billing practices.

Appel | ant Samarj eet Sidhu worked for Gfford. Sidhu, who was
trained as a physician in Mexico but failed the Texas nedica
exans, perfornmed bi of eedback services on Gfford s patients. Sidhu
billed for biofeedback using a code that contenplates the
measur enent and regul ati on of body tenperature, which is generally
acconplished with the aid of a biofeedback nachine. Sever al
patients testified that they never saw Si dhu’ s bi of eedback nmachi ne,
and that Sidhu generally just talked to the patient, performng
nmore of a counseling role.

Sidhu ran the office in Gfford s absence. Gfford s staff
were instructed to call Sidhu “Dr. Sidhu.” Patients were referred
to Sidhu in Gfford s absence, and Si dhu was assigned the task of
judging whether the patients needed nedication, counseling,

bi of eedback or all three. Many of the services perfornmed by Sidhu



in Gfford s absence were billed as psychot herapy sessions with
Gfford. Sidhu received conputer print-outs detailing Gfford' s
billings, and assisted Gfford s efforts to collect on the
fraudul ent billings by neeting and corresponding with patients and
i nsurers. Ofice staff testified that Sidhu was involved in
collecting the fraudulent billings on a daily basis. Sidhu does
not di spute that insurers were systematically defrauded by billings
produced in Gfford s practice.

Gfford and Sidhu were tried before a jury and convicted on
multiple counts relating to the fraud.? G fford was convicted of
conspiracy to commt mail fraud, aiding and abetting mail fraud,
mai | fraud, obstruction of justice, and engaging in a nonetary
structuring transaction. On appeal, G fford does not chall enge the
facts establishing his guilt. Rather, Gfford attacks al nost al
of the fact findings used by the district court to determ ne his
sent ence.

Si dhu was convi cted of conspiracy to commt nmail fraud, aiding
and abetting mail fraud, and nmeking false statenents to the FBI.
On appeal, Sidhu challenges both his conviction and his sentence,
arguing: (1) that the evidence was insufficient to support his
conviction; (2) that his trial counsel was constitutionally
deficient; and (3) that the district court incorrectly calcul ated
the nonetary loss attributable to Sidhu’s crines, thus arriving at

an erroneous base offense | evel.

2 Gffords wife, who worked as a chiropractor in his
office, was also indicted but the charges against her were
dismssed. Gfford s remaining office staff were not indicted.
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Gfford s and Sidhu's appeals wll be addressed separately.

SIDHU S APPEAL
|. Sufficiency of the Evidence to Support Sidhu’s Conviction
Si dhu’s convictions nmust be affirmed if a rational trier of
fact coul d have found the essential el enents of each of fense beyond
a reasonabl e doubt. See United States v. Brown, 29 F.3d 953, 958
(5th Cr. 1994). Al inferences and credibility determ nations
must be resolved in favor of the jury’'s verdict of guilty. United

States v. McCord, 33 F.3d 1434, 1439 (5th Gr. 1994).

A. Conspiracy to Commit Miil Fraud

Sidhu’s conviction for conspiracy to conmt mil fraud in
violation of 18 U S.C. 8 371 nust be supported with sufficient
evidence that Sidhu and Gfford agreed to commt mail fraud, and
that either Gfford or Sidhu commtted an overt act in furtherance
of the agreenent. United States v. Gay, 96 F.3d 769, 772-73 (5th
Cr. 1996), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 1275 (1997); United States v.
Pettigrew, 77 F.3d 1500, 1519 (5th Gr. 1996); United States v.
Mackay, 33 F.3d 489 (5th Cir. 1994).

Sidhu admts that he knew Gfford was systematically
defrauding insurers by submtting fraudulent clains. Si dhu
acknow edges that he perfornmed acts that furthered Gfford' s fraud.
Therefore, the second elenent of the conspiracy offense is not

chal | enged. Rather, Sidhu clains that the governnent failedinits



burden to denonstrate an agreenent between he and G fford to conm t
mai | fraud.

The agreenent formng the basis of a conspiracy is rarely
expressed, and may be inferred fromcircunstantial evidence. E.g.,
Pettigrew, 77 F.3d at 1519. The key issue is whether Sidhu
know ngly and voluntarily joined Gfford s course of action. Id.;
see also Gray, 96 F.3d at 772-73.

The jury’s inference that Sidhu and Gfford agreed to conmt
mail fraud is supported by anple evidence. G fford entrusted his
practice to Sidhu’s care when G fford was out of the office. Sidhu
checked to see how paynent woul d be nade before seeing patients.
Sidhu instructed the staff to bill for injections using a
particul ar code. Patients testified that Sidhu s nethods were
highly irregular and the jury heard evidence that strongly supports
the proposition that Sidhu was not perform ng bi of eedback at all.
For exanple, Sidhu billed for biofeedback that was perforned
w thout the benefit of his biofeedback nachine. One patient
testified that Sidhu slept during a purported bi of eedback session
while the patient |istened to nusic. Anot her patient testified
that she was only with Sidhu for a brief tine period, and that she
was forced to flee when he began touching her inappropriately.
O her patients saw Si dhu after taking injections of norphine, which
i nduced prol onged sl eep and woul d have rendered the patient unable
to actively participate in biofeedback. Although the jury heard

conflicting testinony on the issue of proper biof eedback t echni que,



there is sufficient evidence in the record to establish that at
| east sonme of Sidhu’s billings for biofeedback were fraudul ent.

Sidhu also perfornmed a variety of services for patients in
G fford s absence, including filling out and di spensi ng pre-signed
prescription forns, determ ni ng whet her a pati ent needed prescri bed
medi cation, and counseling patients. Many of Sidhu’ s services were
subsequently billed by Gfford as face-to-face psychotherapy
sessions. Sidhu obtained know edge of these fraudulent billings
because Si dhu was provided with conputer print-outs of Gfford' s
billings, which Sidhu was periodically held responsible for
collecting. Sidhu does not dispute that he knewthe billings to be
fraudul ent. Thus, Sidhu perfornmed an inportant role in furthering
the conspiracy by fraudulently billing for biofeedback services
that were inproperly or inconpletely perfornmed, by performng
services that could be billed as though provided by a physician,
and by assumng a role of responsibility for the practice from
G fford.

O equal inportance, Sidhu inquired into the status of
collections on a daily basis. Sidhu actively collected on debt he
knew to be fraudul ent by neeting and corresponding wth insurance
conpani es and patients. Sidhu net with insurance adjustors. Sidhu
was al so involved in collecting funds frompatients. One patient
testified that Sidhu presented her with a $10,000 bill fromG fford
but offered to excuse the debt, provided that the patient would
sign a release exonerating Gfford of liability for m sdi agnosi ng

the patient with a termnal illness. Thus, Sidhu perfornmed an



inportant role in conpleting the fraudulent transactions by
actively pursuing collection of the fraudulent bills.

Si dhu mai ntai ns that he cannot be held |iable because he did
not personally create any fraudulent billings. Sidhu is correct
that Gfford generally circled, or at |east approved, the codes
that would be billed to a particular patient or insurer. That does
not, however, end the inquiry. The record contains sufficient
evidence to support an inference that at |east sone of Sidhu' s
billings for biofeedback were fraudulent. Moreover, Sidhu may be
held liable for the reasonably foreseeable conduct of his co-
conspirator, G fford. See, e.g., United States v. Sanchez, 961
F.2d 1169 (5th Gir. 1992).

In arelated argunent, Sidhu suggests that his conduct was not
vol untary because, having failed his nedical exans, he needed his
job. Sidhu' s contention that he needed a job, or that he acted at
Gfford s direction, establishes only Gfford s superior role in
the conspiracy. Such an allegation is insufficient to establish a
necessity defense that woul d excuse Sidhu’ s crimnal conduct. See
United States v. WIlis, 38 F.3d 170, 175 (5th G r. 1994) (duress
defense requires, inter alia, that the defendant reasonably believe
there is a threat of death or serious bodily injury that | eaves the
def endant no reasonable alternative to violating the law), cert.
denied, 115 S. . 2585 (1995).

Sidhu perfornmed work knowing that the services would be
fraudulently bill ed. Sidhu assisted the fraudulent schenme by

collecting on those fraudulent billings. There is sufficient



evidence in the record to support the jury's inference that Sidhu
and Gfford agreed to commt nmail fraud. Accordingly, Sidhu’s

conviction for conspiracy to commt mail fraud will be affirned.

B. Ai ding and Abetting Mail Fraud

Sidhu’s conviction for aiding and abetting mail fraud in
violation of 18 U S.C. 8 1341 nust be supported wth sufficient
evidence that Sidhu: (1) voluntarily associated wth the crim nal
enterprise; (2) voluntarily participated in the venture; and (3)
sought by i ndependent action to nake the venture succeed. United
States v. Casilla, 20 F.3d 600, 603 (5th GCr. 1994).

Evi dence sufficient to support a conspiracy conviction is
typically sufficient to support an aiding and abetting charge.
ld.; United States v. Mergerson, 4 F.3d 337, 342 (5th Cr. 1993).
To the extent Sidhu' s independent action conprises a separate
element of the aiding and abetting offense, that elenent is
satisfied with evidence that Sidhu independently used the nmail to
collect on what he knew to be fraudulent billings. There is,
therefore, anple evidence to support the jury's verdict wth
respect to Sidhu’s conviction for aiding and abetting mail fraud,

and that conviction will be affirned.

C. MbBki ng Fal se Statenents to the FBI

During the course of the FBI's investigation into Gfford' s
billing practices, Sidhu was interviewed by the FBI. In that

interview, Sidhu falsely stated that his only role in Gfford's



practice was to perform bi of eedback. Specifically, Sidhu clained
that he did not do any counseling, that he had no know edge of the
procedures used when G fford was out of the office, and that he had
no role in dispensing prescriptions. Si dhu was prosecuted and
convicted for nmaking these false statenents to the FBI, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

Sidhu admts he nade the statements. Sidhu concedes, as he
must, that there is evidence in the record to support the
conclusion that statenents were false, at least as they were
understood by the FBI. Sidhu’'s primary position is that
excul patory statenents denying his role in the offense should not
be punishable by 18 U.S.C. 8 1001. As Sidhu recogni zes, however,
we decided that issue in United States v. Rodriguez-Ri os, 14 F. 3d
1040 (5th Gr. 1994) (en banc), which elimnated the “excul patory

no” exception to § 1001 Iliability. Even assumng we were
synpathetic to Sidhu's position, a panel of the Court is wthout
authority to reconsider the decision of the en banc Court in
Rodr i guez- Ri os.

Sidhu al so contends that his msleading statenents were not
mat eri al . Statenents are material within the neaning of 8§ 1001
when t hey have the natural tendency or capacity to deceive, affect,
or influence the federal agency. Kungys v. United States, 108 S.
Ct. 1537, 1546 (1988); United States v. Swaim 757 F.2d 1530, 1534
(5th CGr. 1985); United States v. MlIntosh, 655 F.2d 80, 82 (5th

Cir. 1981). The issue of materiality was properly presented to the

jury, which found that Sidhu' s false statenents to the FBI in the
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course of an active investigation were material to that
i nvesti gati on. Having reviewed the record, we find no error in
that determ nation. Sidhu's conviction for nmaking fal se statenents

to the FBlI in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 1001 will be affirned.

1. Effective Assistance of Counsel

Si dhu next contends that his convictions cannot stand because
he received constitutionally defective assistance of counsel.
Specifically, Sidhu conplains that his counsel should have (1)
moved to sever Sidhu's case fromG@fford s and (2) objected to the
district court’s calculation of the loss attributable to Sidhu’s
of f enses.

Sidhu’s claim of ineffective assistance is not ripe for
appellate review. Cenerally, aclaimfor ineffective assistance of
counsel is not reviewed on direct appeal when, as here, there has
been no devel opnent of the issue in the district court. Uni ted
States v. Riunard, 956 F.2d 85, 87 (5th Cr. 1991); United States
v. Lewis, 902 F.2d 1176, 1180 (5th G r. 1990).

Even if the Court were to review the issue, Sidhu could not
denonstrate either constitutionally deficient performance or the
type of prejudice required to establish an ineffectiveness claim
Sidhu’ s counsel noved for a judgnent of acquittal notw thstanding
the verdict. |In that pleading, counsel raised both the sufficiency
i ssues raised by Sidhu on appeal and the prejudice to Sidhu as a
result of the joint trial. United States v. Capote-Capote, 946
F.2d 1100, 1104 (5th Cr. 1991) (counsel’s failure to file a notion
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to sever is not error unless the defendant can denonstrate specific
conpel i ng prejudi ce agai nst which the district court was unable to
afford protection). Sidhu' s counsel al so nmade argunents concerni ng
the anount of |oss attributable to Sidhu in Sidhu' s objections to
the PSR and at sentencing. As a result, Sidhu s relatively |ess
cul pabl e rol e was devel oped and accounted for, both at trial and in
sent enci ng. Sidhu’s generalized assertions of prejudice are
insufficient to neet the rigorous standards governing clai ns that

trial counsel provided ineffective assistance.

[11. Loss Calculation used in Sentencing

Si dhu obj ects to the anobunt of nonetary loss attributed to his
of fenses for purposes of determ ning his base offense level. The
district court’s loss calculation is reviewed for clear error.
United States v. Krenning, 93 F.3d 1257, 1269 (5th Cr. 1996). The
“l oss need not be determned with precision. The court need only
make a reasonable estimate of the loss, given available
information.” U S. S .G 8§ 2F1.1, coment. (n. 8).

Si dhu argues that the loss attributed to hi mshoul d have been
| ower because he was the less culpable co-conspirator.
Specifically, Sidhu clains he should be sentenced only for harm
that he directly caused or intended.

We disagree. G fford s conduct was reasonably foreseeable to
Sidhu, and in furtherance of their jointly-undertaken crim nal
activity. US S G 8 1B1.3(a)(1); United States v. Carreon, 11
F.3d 1225, 1232-34 (5th G r. 1994). Therefore, Sidhu may properly

12



be sentenced for Gfford s conduct in furtherance of the
conspiracy. Moreover, the district court properly accounted for
Sidhu's relative culpability by: (1) Ilimting Sidhu s |oss
calculation to the period during which he was enpl oyed by G fford,
and (2) treating Sidhu as a “mnor participant.” As a result,
Si dhu was sentenced to 37 nonths using an offense | evel of 21 and
crimnal history category of 1. Gfford was sentenced to 120
nmont hs usi ng an of fense | evel of 30 and a crimnal history category
of I'l. Sidhu was ordered to pay a fine in the anmount of $2,000.
Gfford s fine was wai ved, but he was ordered to pay restitution in
t he amount of $150, 899. 27.

Sidhu’ s objection to his sentence is general. He believes he
shoul d have received an across-the-board di scount based upon his
position in the conspiracy. Si dhu does not, however, nake any
speci fic argunents about which anmounts cannot be fairly attri buted
to him Likewise, Sidhu failed to offer specific evidence
rebutting the PSR in the district court. The district court’s
reliance on the PSR, as adjusted to accommobdate certain of Sidhu' s
objections in the district court, was reasonable. See United
States v. Ayala, 47 F.3d 688, 690 (5th Gr. 1995); United States v.
Angul o, 927 F.2d 202, 204 (5th CGr. 1991). Si dhu has not
denonstrated that the district court’s allocation of |oss, and
ultimate determnation of a base defense level, is clearly

erroneous. Si dhu’ s sentence will be affirned.

G FFORD S APPEAL
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G fford challenges only his sentence. Gfford s convictions
were grouped into three offense groups, pursuant to the grouping
rules of sentencing guidelines 3D1.2 and 3D1.3. G fford was then
sentenced using the follow ng PSR recomendati ons:

Conspl RACY TO Cowm T Mal L FRAUD AND Mal L FRAUD COUNTS

Base of fense | evel 2F1. 1(a) 6
Amount of | oss 2F1. 1(b) (1) 12
More than m ni mal pl anni ng 2F1. 1(b) (2) 2
Aggravating role 3B1. 1(a) 4
Vul nerabl e victim 3A1. 1(b) 2
Abuse of position of trust 3B1. 3 2
Qbstruction of justice 3C1. 1 2
Adj ust ed of fense | evel 30
OBSTRUCTI ON OF JUSTI CE COUNTS
Base of fense | evel 2J1.2(a) 12
Threat of injury 2J1.2(b) (1) 8
Aggravating role 3B1. 1(a) 4
Vul nerabl e victim 3A1. 1(b) 2
Abuse of position of trust 3B1. 3 2
Adj ust ed of fense | evel 28
FI NANCI AL TRANSACTI ONS COUNTS
Base of fense | evel 2S1. 2(a) 17
Specified activity 251.2(b)(1)(B) 2
Aggravating role 3B1. 1(a) 4
Vul nerabl e victim 3A1. 1(b) 2
Abuse of position of trust 3B1. 3 2
Qbstruction of justice 3C1. 1 2
Adj ust ed of fense | evel 29

Gfford' s ultimte termof inprisonnment was determ ned using

the highest offense l|level, pursuant to the grouping rules of
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guideline 3D1.4. Thus, Gfford was sentenced using a base of fense
level of 30. G fford articulates six issues for review  Taken
together, these issues effectively challenge nost of the adjust-
ments made to determne G fford s base offense |evel.
Adjustnents to the Cbstruction of Justice and Fi nanci al
Transaction O fense G oups

Gfford s first two i ssues raise argunents that relate solely
to the district court’s determnation of the base offense |evel
applicable to his convictions for obstruction of justice and
engaging in an unlawful financial transactions. Specifically,
G fford challenges the district court’s findings that (1) Gfford' s
obstruction of justice count involved a threat of physical injury,
and (2) that the financial transaction offenses involved an
obstruction of justice. See US S G § 231.2(b)(1) (allow ng
eight-level adjustnment if offense involved threat of physical
injury); 8 2S1.2(b)(1)(B) (allowing two-level adjustment if
def endant knew funds were proceeds of unlawful activity). After
reviewi ng the record and the argunents of the parties wth respect
to each of these issues, the Court finds no basis for hol ding that
the district court’s fact findings are clearly erroneous. Although
we find no error with respect to the adjustnent of the obstruction
of justice offense group for threat of physical injury or the
financial transaction offense group for obstruction of justice, we
note that any such error would al so be harmess. Ganting Gfford
relief with respect to these i ssues woul d change only the gui deline

range applicable to the obstruction of justice and financial

15



transaction offense groups. Ganting relief would not, however,
have any effect with respect to the controlling guideline range.
Quideline 3D1.2 provides rules for grouping certain
convictions into offense groups. Gfford s convictions in this
case were grouped into three offense groups: the mail fraud of fense

group; the obstruction of justice offense group; and the financi al

transaction offense group. G fford does not challenge these
gr oupi ngs. Quideline 3D1.4 provides for determnation of a
“conbi ned offense level.” A conbined offense level is determ ned

by taking the highest of the base offense | evels applicable to the
various of fense groups, and adding points to that |evel based upon
the base offense | evels of the other offense groups.

The district court made fact findings which yielded a base
of fense level of 30 with respect to the nmail fraud of fense group.
As devel oped nore fully below, we affirm the district court’s
determ nation of that base offense level. The district court was
then required, pursuant to guideline 3D1.4 to add points to that
base offense | evel to account for the obstruction of justice and
financial transaction offense groups.

In this case, however, any addition to the base offense | evel
of 30, the level applicable to the mail fraud of fense group, would
result in a guideline range that was hi gher than the highest of the

statutory maxi mum sentences allowed by law.® For that reason, the

3 The maxi num statutory sentence that could be inposed was
120 nont hs, which applied to Gfford' s convictions for violation of
18 U.S.C. 8 1512 and 18 U. S.C. 8§ 1957. G fford has not chall enged
the validity of those convictions on appeal. G fford s guideline
range using a base offense level of 30 and a crimnal history
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conbi ned offense level was effectively limted to 30 by the
statutory maxi num sentence that could be inposed, and the base
offense levels for the obstruction of justice and financial
transacti on of fense groups played no role in determning Gfford' s
gui del i ne range. Gfford s argunents that relate solely to the
obstruction of justice and financial transaction offense groups
present no error. Mbreover, assum ng the Court were to find error
Wth respect to those adjustnents, the error is without effect as
to the application of the sentencing guidelines in Gfford s case.
Accordingly, the district court’s adjustnent to the obstruction of
justice offense group for threat of physical injury and the
district court’s adjustnent to the financial transaction offense

group for obstruction of justice will be affirned.

1. Calculation of the Loss Attributable to Gfford' s Fraud
Gfford's third issue challenges the district court’s
calculation of the loss attributable to his fraud. The base
of fense level for fraud and deceit is six. US S G 8§ 2F1. 1(a).
The district court added twelve points to the base offense |evel
applicable to the mail fraud offense group because the |oss
exceeded $1.5 million. See U S.S.G 8§ 2F1.1(b)(1)(M. The loss

calculation was initially prepared by the FBlI and |ater

category of Il was 108 - 135 nonths. The guideline range
applicable to a base offense level of 31 and a crimnal history
category of Il is 121 - 151 nonths, a period in excess of the

statutory maxi mum of 120 nont hs.
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incorporated into the PSR The district court adopted the
calculations in the PSR, finding that Gfford intended the
i nsurance carriers to suffer a | oss exceedi ng $2, 020, 419. 79.

Testinony at trial established that the FBI cal culated the
| oss attributable to Gfford by extracting nunbers fromGfford' s
own conputer. The FBI properly limted its analysis to billings
made bet ween January 1993 and August 1994, the tine period defined
inthe indictment for the conspiracy. The PSR reports that the FBI
alsolimted its analysis to those billing codes that required Dr.
Gfford to performor be present for the procedure. Finally, the
FBI limted its analysis to billings actually submtted to an
I nsurance carrier.

The FBI cal cul ated that seventy-four percent of Gfford s 1993
billings and sixty-eight percent of Gfford s billings between
January and August 1994 were fraudulent. To reach that concl usi on,
the FBI relied upon witness interviews and other evidence to
estimate that Gfford was generally available for work an average
of fifty hours per week. Allowng Gfford fifty hours per week,
the FBI calculated that Gfford could have worked 2,600 hours per
year. Fromthis figure, the FBI subtracted tinme that Gfford was
known to be out of the office, based upon travel recei pts and ot her
evidence. Using this nethod, the FBlI estimated that G fford was
avai l able for work 2,017 hours in 1993 and 1,236 hours between
January and August 1994. The FBI then conpared the anmount of tine

that Gfford was determ ned to be available for work with Gfford' s
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actual billings. Tine-sensitive billing or other procedures that
were in excess of the tine that G fford could have been avail abl e
for work were determ ned to be fraudul ent.

G fford does not seriously quarrel with the governnent’s
met hodol ogy. Rather, G fford argues (1) that he never intended to
recover the face anmount of the fraudulent clains, and (2) that the
| oss should be reduced to reflect that the services perforned by

non- physi ci an enpl oyees had sone val ue.

A. Gfford s Intent to Collect on the Fraudul ent d ai ns

The private insurers billed by Gfford generally paid only
ei ghty percent, while sonme governnent prograns paid as lowas fifty
percent of the anmounts billed for Gfford s services. Gfford
clains that he never intended to collect fraudulently billed
anopunts that were not covered by the insurers. Thus, G fford
argues that the overall amount of loss attributed to his fraud

shoul d be reduced by between twenty and fifty percent.?

4 Gfford attenpts to support this argunent with comentary
note 7 to sentencing guideline 2F1.1, which states that the court
may substitute “intended | oss” when it is greater than the *“actual
loss.” US. SG 8 2F1.1 cooment. (n. 7). The commentary cited by
Gfford permts the district court to increase the anount of | oss
attributable to an offense by including | osses that the defendant
intended to inflict. Watever nore subtle neaning the commentary
may be trying to convey, we seriously doubt that the provision can
be read to require that the district court define an intended | oss
in fraud cases, and then substitute that intended |oss for nore
reliable and | ess subjective estimates of |oss, such as the face
anount of fraudulent clains. See United States v. Lghodaro, 967
F.2d 1028, 1031 (5th Gr. 1992) (total anount of fraudul ent clains,
rat her than anmount paid by the i nsurer, established | oss); see al so
United States v. Sowels, 998 F.2d 249, 252 (5th Cr. 1993)
(combined credit limt of stolen credit cards represented intended
| oss regardl ess of the actual charges nade).
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We di sagree. The record contains testinony establishing that
G fford accepted cash paynents frompatients that were intended to
suppl enent the anobunts paid by insurance conpanies. One of
Gfford s patients testified that cash paynents of $100 per week
were made to cover the gap between G fford s billings and avail abl e
i nsurance coverage. Sidhu was involved in collecting noney
directly from patients for Gfford s bills. Finally, Gfford
secured credit card nunbers from patients for the purposes of
billing directly when the insurance conpanies did not pay. Thus,
the record establishes that Gfford did intend, and did in fact
accept paynent from patients that was in addition to the anounts
billed to insurance conpani es. Therefore, the district court’s
reliance on the PSR, which used the face amount of the fraudul ent
billings as the neasure of |oss, was not clearly erroneous.

O equal inportance, Gfford has not provided the Court with
a record or an argunent on appeal that is specific enough to

support relief on this ground. Gfford did not specify in the

district court and has not specified on appeal which billings are
subj ect to reduction or by what percentage those billings shoul d be
reduced. There is, therefore, no basis for finding that the

district court’s reliance upon the PSR in this conplicated
i nsurance fraud case was clearly erroneous. United States wv.

Ayal a, 47 F. 3d 688, 690 (5th Cr. 1995); United States v. Angul o,
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927 F.2d 202 (5th Cr. 1991) (“in the absence of rebuttal evidence,
the sentencing court may properly rely upon the PSR and adopt it”).

Gfford's premse that he never intended to collect
fraudulently billed clains that were not paid by the insurers is
contradicted by the record. Moreover, Gfford has not presented
any specific evidence or argunent that would allowrelief on this
ground. For each of these reasons, the district court’s reliance

on the PSR, which determ ned | oss according to the face val ue of

fraudulently submtted clains, wll be affirnmed.
B. Accounting for the Value of Services Rendered by Non-
Physi ci ans

Wth respect to Gfford s fraudulent billings for services

that were provided by another non-physician enployee, Gfford
argues that the | oss cal cul ati on shoul d be reduced by the val ue of
the services actually rendered by the non-physician. Gfford
failed to develop this argunent in the district court.
Specifically, there is no evidence that would enable the Court to
di stingui sh between fraudulent billings for services that were not
performed, fraudulent billings for services that were i nproperly or
inconpletely perfornmed, and fraudulent billings for services
performed by non-physician enpl oyees. Moreover, there is no
evi dence concerning the value, if any, of services perforned by
non- physi ci ans, and no evidence to establish that Gfford could
have relied upon the codes billed to seek reinbursenent in any

anount for the services provided by non-physician enpl oyees.
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G fford recogni zes that the record i s i nadequate, but requests
that the Court vacate his sentence and remand for determ nation of
those issues. G fford had anple opportunity to devel op his rather
specific challenges to the district court’s allocation of loss in
the district court. See United States v. Bachynsky, 949 F.2d 722,
732-33 (5th Gr. 1991). G fford bore the burden of producing
specific rebuttal evidence to support his argunent that sone
discrete portion of the fraudulent billings was not in fact
fraudul ent because valuable services that could have been
rei mbursed were rendered by non-physi ci an enpl oyees. United States
v. Ayala, 47 F.3d 688, 690 (5th Cr. 1995); United States wv.
Angul o, 927 F.2d 202 (5th GCr. 1991) (“in the absence of rebuttal
evi dence, the sentencing court may properly rely upon the PSR and
adopt it”). Gfford failed in this burden.

We are a court of error. W wll therefore decline Gfford' s
invitation to remand for devel opnent of an argunent that shoul d
have been devel oped in the district court. Based upon the existing
record, the district court’s calculation of the |loss attributable

to Gfford s fraud was not clearly erroneous and will be affirned.

I11. Adjustnent Based Upon G fford s Aggravating Role

Gfford s fourth issue challenges the district court’s finding
that Gfford played an aggravating role in the offenses, which
resulted in the addition of four points to his base offense |evel.
Cui deli ne section 3B1.1 all ows adj ust nent of the base of fense | evel

when the crimnal defendant is found to be “an organi zer or | eader
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of a crimnal activity that involved five or nore participants or
was ot herwi se extensive.” An aggravating role determnation is
reviewed for clear error. See United States v. Allibhai, 939 F.2d
244, 252 (5th Cir. 1991).

No one contends that there were nore than five participants in
the crimnal activity. Rat her, the governnent argues that
Gfford s schene to defraud was “otherw se extensive” because it
required the “unknowi ng services” of nultiple outsiders. See
Al l'i bhai, 939 F. 2d at 253 (unknow ng servi ces of bank enpl oyees, as
well as the scope and duration of the conspiracy nmade noney
| aundering schene “otherwise extensive”); US S G § 3Bl 1,
coment. (n. 3) (“a fraud that involved only three participants but
used the unknowi ng services of many outsiders could be considered
extensive”).

G fford created and managed an ext ensi ve schene t hat gener at ed
nore than $2 mllion dollars in fraudulent billings in the
ni net een-nonth period between January 1993 and August 1994. Cf.
Al libhai, 939 F.2d at 253 (finding that noney |aundering schene

that yielded only $1 mllion dollars in |aundered noney over a
three-year period was otherw se extensive). Gfford recruited
nuner ous of fice enpl oyees to provide billing and col |l ection support

for his fraudul ent practices. O equal inportance, Gfford s far-
reaching fraud could not have succeeded without the unwtting
participation of his vulnerable patients and the unknow ng
assi stance of enployees in the many insurance conpanies that

received Gfford s fraudulent billings. The district court’s
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finding that Gfford played an aggravating role in an extensive
conspiracy to defraud health insurance conpanies and governnent

progranms is not clearly erroneous and will be affirned.

V. Adjustnent Because Gfford s Crines |npacted Vul nerable
Victins

Gfford fifth issue challenges the district court’s finding
that Gfford s offenses i npacted vul nerabl e victins, which resulted
in the addition of two points to his base offense |evel. See
US S G 8 3AL.1(b). The district court’s inposition of the two-
| evel increase was based upon its judgnent that Gfford' s patients
were unusually vulnerable to crimnal activity.

G fford argues that the i ncrease was i nappropri ate because his
patients were not the victins of his offense. Rat her, G fford
mai ntains that the primary victins of his crimnal conduct were the
fraudulently billed insurers and governnment prograns. We have
previously recogni zed that a physician’s patients can be victim zed
by a fraudul ent billing schene directed at insurers or other health
care providers. See United States v. Bachynsky, 949 F.2d 722 (5th
Cr. 1991). I n Bachynsky we recognized that “the deep pockets”
payi ng phony insurance clains are not the only victins when a
doctor’s unwitting patients are nade the instrunentalities of a
fraudulent billing schene. 1d. at 735; see also United States v.
Kuban, 94 F.3d 971, 974 (5th Cr. 1996) (discussing who can be a

victimfor purposes of guideline 3A1.1), cert. denied, 117 S. C.
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716 (1997). The rationale applicable in Bachynsky is equally
appl i cabl e here.

Gfford's patients were often debilitated by pain or
depression, and easily becane addicted to the treatnent proffered
by Gfford to support his fraud. The record supports the
conclusion that Gfford preyed upon vulnerable patients by
addicting them to norphine in order to support his fraudul ent
billing scheme. Gfford s patients were therefore victins of that
schene and the district court’s inposition of a two-Ievel

adj ust nent was not clearly erroneous.

V. Adjustnent Based Upon G fford s Abuse of Position of Trust or
Speci al Skill

Gfford s final issue challenges the district court’s finding
that G fford abused a position of trust, which resulted in the
addition of two points to his base offense level. See U S . S.G 8§
3B1.3. G fford correctly argues that the adjustnent nust stand or
fall on the issue of whether he abused a position of trust.
Guideline 3B1.3 does not allow both an adjustnment for an
aggravating role in the offense, which we have already affirned,
and an adjustnent based “solely on the use of a special skill.”
US S G § 3BL1 3. The district court did not, however, base
Gfford s adjustnent “solely on the use of a special skill.” To
the contrary, the PSR justified the adjustnment with evidence that
G fford abused his position of trust with his patients. In the
sent enci ng hearing, the governnent further defended the adj ustnent
by arguing that Gfford abused his position of trust with the
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i nsurers and governnent prograns that provided rei nbursenment with
respect to the fraudulent billings. Having reviewed the record, we
are convinced that conprom sing his patients’ trust was a necessary
conponent of Gfford s lucrative schene to nmaxi mze his earnings.
Gfford s abuse of his patients’ trust “significantly facilitated
the comm ssion” of the offense. U S S. G 8§ 3B1.3. The district
court’s two-| evel adjustnment under § 3B1.3 is not clearly erroneous

and will be affirned.

CONCLUSI ON
Sidhu’s conviction is supported by adequate evidence wth
respect to all counts. Sidhu's claimfor ineffective assistance of
counsel was not developed in the district court, and is therefore
i nappropriate for appellate review at this tine. Sidhu’ s
relatively less culpable role in the fraudulent schene was
devel oped at trial and accounted for by the district court in the
sentencing hearing. The district court reduced Sidhu’s sentence to
account for his relatively less culpable role. For that reason,
the district court did not err by attributing the total anount of
reasonably foreseeable loss to Sidhu. Accordingly Sidhu’s

convi ctions and sentence are AFFI RVED
Gfford s multiple argunents chal |l engi ng the findi ngs used by
the district court to determne his base offense |evel do not

present clear error. Accordingly, Gfford s sentence is AFFI RVED
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